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--- On commencing at 9:31 a.m.

MR. THIESSEN:  I think we'll get started.

Welcome to the technical conference for the application by B2M Limited Partnership, cost-of-service transmission rate application, EB-2015-0026.

My name is Harold Thiessen.  I am the case manager on behalf of Board Staff, and with me here is Shawn Davitt, Board Staff, and Jane Scott, of Board Staff, and also Mike Millar, who is Board counsel.

Could we have other introductions, please, starting with the other intervenors that are here?


Appearances:


MS. BLANCHARD:  Good morning, my name is Emma Blanchard.  I am here on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

MR. DUMKA:  Good morning, I'm Bodhan Dumka.  I'm here looking after the interests of the Society of Energy Professionals.

MR. MONEM:  I'm Alex Monem.  I am legal counsel to the Saugeen Ojibway Nations, also referred to as S-O-N, or SON.

MS. VARJACIC:  Good morning, Anita Varjacic, counsel for B2M Limited Partnership.  With me I have Allan Cowan, director of major applications from Hydro One Networks, as well as Nicole Taylor, regulatory advisor from Hydro One Networks, and to my left I've got a witness panel here who will answer the questions from Board Staff and the intervenors.

Furthest to my right we've got Mike Penstone, who is the managing director of B2M GP Inc.; Jeff Smith, director of business performance at Hydro One Networks; Giovanna Baragetti, the vice-president of corporate tax; and Colin Salter, who is also legal counsel to S-O-N, or the SON.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

I understand Hydro One -- or B2M doesn't have any sort of opening statement or anything like that.

MS. VARJACIC:  That's correct.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay.  Well, then I guess we can just get into the meat of the meeting, which is questions on the interrogatories and the application by CME and Board Staff, with the Society listening in, and with no formal questions filed at this time.

And I think we've decided that CME is going first?  Is that correct?

MS. BLANCHARD:  Thank you, Mr. Thiessen.

MR. THIESSEN:  Oh, I just -- if I could just interrupt, I've talked to Allan about this, but if we are doing questioning by one party and we are on a particular topic area, we agreed that perhaps the other intervenors here could chime in with additional questions at the same time, rather than wait their turn later, and that would make things a bit more efficient and more comprehensive, if that's all right.

Ms. Blanchard?
B2M LP - PANEL 1

Mike Penston

Jeff Smith

Giovanna Baragetti

Colin Salter

Questions by Ms. Blanchard:

MS. BLANCHARD:  Good morning, panel.  I'd like to start out this morning by asking some questions about the debt financing that was described, particularly, in the updated evidence which we received on June 29th.  And I am assuming you've had an opportunity to review our questions that we filed on Monday, and so really my questions are going to essentially follow along -- along the lines of the questions outlined in that letter.

And so just as a starting point, I'd ask you to confirm that the new note that was issued and that gave rise to this update has produced a reduction in the revenue requirement that totals $41.3 million over the five years; is that accurate?

MR. SMITH:  Subject to check, yes, that's accurate.  It's a significant reduction over the five-year period, yes.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Thank you.  And the reduction is entirely related to new rates obtained on a five-year note issued by Hydro One.

MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.

MS. BLANCHARD:  So I'd like to ask you then a few questions about this new note that Hydro One has obtained, and in particular I'm interested in how this relates to the forecast financings that were part of Hydro One's rate application in the fall of 2014.

And so if you did have a chance to look at those questions that we put to you, it's our understanding that the forecasting at the time was that there would be long-term debt financings in 2015 totalling 478 million, and that would be split evenly amongst terms of five, ten, and 30 years.

MR. SMITH:  I believe you are referring to the Hydro One Networks forecast from 2014-0140, and that was approximately 160 million at five years, another 160 at ten, and another 160 at 30 years.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  So 40, 80 in total, was the forecast of debt issues that were -- that Hydro One Networks had forecast for '15.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Yeah, and so I think partly we're interested in understanding how this new note that's produced this $41.3 million reduction in revenue requirements relates to those forecasts, because obviously we are dealing with a fairly substantial change in what was anticipated in terms of financing.

So we've taken that 480 number as sort of a starting point.  We assume that that was the number that underlied your initial application in March -- I guess it was March 30th; is that accurate?

MR. SMITH:  Of '14, you mean?

MS. BLANCHARD:  For B2M, so it would have been -- when you filed your application on March 30th for B2M, the financings that were underlying your revenue-requirement calculations for B2M were based on that forecast that I've just described; is that accurate?

MR. SMITH:  Well, I guess the -- I mean, obviously, what we filed in March --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  -- was our estimate at that time of the financing.  I wouldn't go too far in trying to link the transmission filing to our B2M filing.  That was done -- well, frankly, the Networks filing was done almost a year ago, and it was an overall financing of the portfolio, the very large portfolio, of Networks transmission, and that was the anticipated needs.

Much of that was, yes, for the anticipated Bruce to Milton refinancing, but by and large, what was offered is approximately 300 million, was the debt offering at -- the five-year debt offering that has now been put in place and that has led to the reduction of revenue requirement.  That is generally in line, in terms of the total amount, with what was originally anticipated.

When we filed the interim rate, it was -- interim rate in December -- for interim rates in December, it was acknowledged that we would be seeking actual financing for Bruce to Milton.  At the time what was used as the debt portion for the interim rates was Networks' overall debt rate --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  -- approximately 4.9, subject to check, of the entire portfolio of Networks.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  Subsequently, as anticipated, we have gone out and secured dedicated financing for Bruce to Milton.  Market conditions were fortunate that we got a significantly lower rate than the overall portfolio, but that was just due to the market conditions in place.

In terms of relating it back to the 480 forecast of Network's --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  -- our treasury department continues to look for market opportunities to finance the larger Networks portfolio, and that's not really, particularly, linked to the Bruce to Milton's filing, if that makes sense.

Like, it's -- there's -- there will be more financing needs probably for Networks.  It is quite normal.  We are actually the third largest Canadian debt issuer in the world --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  -- so we have a very active financing programme, but looking at the 480 and linking that with the 300 is a bit difficult, because the 300 is dedicated, as anticipated, for Bruce to Milton, and Networks transmission, which is separate, continues to look for market opportunities to finance the business.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So when you talk about the five-year -- so I'm now in your evidence here.  This is the updated evidence.  So Exhibit B1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 2 of 3, line 19.

So when you talk about this five-year note issued by Hydro One Inc., that five-year note doesn't bear any relationship to the forecast 480 that was part of the Networks application in the fall of 2014, or that was part of the settlement -- I guess I'm talking the fall of 2014, because I'm referring back to the settlement agreement.

MR. SMITH:  It was anticipated in the forecast that there would be money necessary.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  However, it's not -- you can't take 300 issued there and presume that there is another 180 of financing to come.  Networks transmission will finance its business as it needs to.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay, so, I just -- I want to understand the 300.  So the 300 that you're talking about, could you just clarify?  What is the 300?  That's not a number that I have here.

MR. SMITH:  That's approximately.  I think it was 293, actually.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Oh, okay.

MR. SMITH:  That's the debt that was issued on behalf of B2M LP -- sorry, it's 293 actually, but I used 300 approximately.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Understood.  So, let's see here -- I am just, based on what you've told me, thinking about how to rephrase this here.

So the forecast 480 included the 300, is that Accurate?  I'm trying to follow what you've explained.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry to take so long with that.

MS. BLANCHARD:  I appreciate it.

MR. SMITH:  And the reason is that the 293 that was ultimately issued for B2M is not necessarily explicitly broken out in the 480.

The 480, which was well over a year ago, was the forecast of Networks transmission borrowing needs.  B2M was contemplated at the time --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  -- but finance financial statements hadn't been constituted.  So the exact borrowing needs ultimately of B2M weren't known.

As I sit here, I couldn't break out exactly how much of the 480 was necessarily dedicated to B2M.

Certainly it was contemplated -- sorry, I don't want to say that, oh, yeah, precisely 293 was in that 480.

The borrowing needs of B2M were contemplated in the 480.  I don't have a precise number for you of how much, but I think the bigger point is that they are two separate businesses now.

They don't -- they are all financed under the treasury department of Hydro One Inc.; that's who secures their debt financing. But Networks transmission is entirely separately on its own financing path in order to finance its operations, as is B2M LP is also on its own path.

So, it's -- that is to say the 293, you can't somebody subtract that from the 480 and necessarily say that's how much Networks is going to engineer this year, because they're not specifically and exactly related, if that makes sense.

MS. BLANCHARD:  And partly that's because of the timing lag; is that accurate?  Because when you came up with the 480, that was early days in terms of -- so the 480 number, to put it another way, would have evolved over time and ultimately would include whatever number is related to the flow-through to B2M.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, I mean it is a good estimate, but subject to the actual results in the last 15 months.  It's subject to the actual final value at consummation of the partnership in December.

Yes, there is a number of factors that -- 480 is our estimate, but the final final numbers, obviously that is part of operating a large business like Hydro One Inc. does.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Are you aware of -- do you know if there are more financings planned for 2015, then?

MR. SMITH:  For B2M LP?  No.

MS. BLANCHARD:  For Hydro One.

MR. SMITH:  I couldn't speak to that.  That's Hydro One Networks.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Do you know whether Hydro One has now financed more than the 480?  Do you have that information?

MS. VARJACIC:  Counsel, it I might interrupt you?

MS. BLANCHAFRD:  Yes.

MS. VARJACIC:  This witness panel is here to answer questions for B2M, not for Hydro One Inc., which is entirely distinct and separate.

So we're not here to answer questions about Hydro One and provide updates above and beyond what was filed in the 2014 transmission application.

MS. BLANCHARD:  I do appreciate that.  It's just when you read the updated evidence, it is clear that the Hydro One note is what's driving the change in the numbers.  So that's why we're trying to understand that relationship.

MS. VARJACIC:  I think the witness has explained that it's Hydro One treasury that is securing the financing, but the debt now belongs to B2M.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Understood.  Understood, yes.  So, let's see -- when did Hydro One go to market to obtain the loan that ultimately was -- when did the loan for the, I guess 300, when did that go to market?

MR. SMITH:  Approximately late May.  We sent out, I believe yesterday, the actual documents related to it.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Oh, you did?  Okay.

MR. COWAN:  I have a copy here.  We could pass it around.

MS. BLANCHARD:  That's great.  Thank you.

MS. VARJACIC:  If I can be of assistance, the question that you asked at 1(d) and 1(g), written responses were circulated yesterday and filed.

MS. BLANCHARD:  I apologise.  I think I am not on the circulation list, but I will -- I won't even ask those then, if they've already been circulated.  So you said (d) and -- was it (g), did you say?

MS. VARJACIC:  Yes.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay, all right, great.  Thank you.  So it went to market in late May, and I guess the second part of the question is: How long did it take to get a response from the market?

MR. SMITH:  Without going into the nature of how we finance, which is different than most just because of Hydro One Inc. -- you know, how Hydro One Inc. finances, we put out a note and we do it on an agency basis.  So the final terms are set on the date of release.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  How long does it take?  I mean, typically a month from when we would -- late May, so that it would typically -- and that's more just the administration of it rather than the market signals, if that makes sense.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay, yes, thank you.  In March -- at the end of March, you were using the 3.1 interest rate, which is, I understand, the blended rate for Hydro One.  So at what point did you -- or did B2M, Hydro One, start to get an inkling that we're talking about significantly lower rates that might be available?

MR. SMITH:  Market conditions, you know, have been favourable for some time.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  The 4.9 approximately, that is the overall Hydro rate that was used in our original interim rate application --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  -- is on the entirely portfolio of Hydro One Networks, which has been obtained over many years.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  Conditions are particularly favourable right now.

When did we get an inkling that there would be a reduction?  I couldn't offer an exact date or anything.  But the intention, as laid out in previous applications, was always that dedicated debt would be financed on behalf of B2M LP.  So in approximately the May time frame, when the treasury department and Hydro One Inc. looked at the market, it became clear that we would likely be significantly better than the 4.9 percent.

In terms of time to execution, it was approximately the end of June that the debt was actually executed, and the updated -- you got the updates; correct? -- the updated revenue requirement includes the much lower rates for the remainder of 2005 and beyond.

MS. BLANCHARD:  So I take it then that you are not going to be able to answer our question about how the 480 has changed after -- I'm getting a nod from your lawyer.  Okay.

MR. COWAN:  If I can try and be a little helpful for you, though, Emma --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes.

MR. COWAN:  -- as you know, CME has always actively participated in past Hydro One transmission --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes.

MR. COWAN:  -- and distribution, so any debt issues that Hydro One Inc. -- Hydro One Networks takes, or even B2M if there was one.  But in this case, there isn't one --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes.

MR. COWAN:  -- we always, at the time of the setting of the uniform transmission rates at the end of the year --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Yeah.

MR. COWAN:  -- we've always committed to update our cost to capital, not only for the Board's new ROE, but we also update for any new issues, so that, in fact, whatever Hydro One Networks does do in '15, it will be reflected in the new uniform transmission rates for '16, and that happens for distribution as well, so, you know, there is always timing, forecast differences, but it always gets trued up for the establishment of the next year's uniform transmission rates, if that's helpful to you.

MS. BLANCHARD:  That is helpful.  Thank you.

So I guess -- I think maybe I've exhausted my questions on this point.  My last question was just essentially, you know, why did we wait until June 29th, but I think I can guess what you're going to tell me on that, but I'll put it to you anyway.

So interrogatories were filed mid-June, and so the question was just --


MR. PENSTONE:  So just before we address your question directly --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes.

MR. PENSTONE:  -- I think it's important to note that the relationship that exists between B2M and Hydro One --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Yeah.

MR. PENSTONE:  -- is Hydro One provides services to B2M, including treasury services, and the expectation is that Hydro One will, on behalf of B2M, look for and continually look for opportunities to reduce B2M's costs.  They fulfil that obligation when they identified an opportunity to go and refinance the debt.

I just want to make a point of this, that the relationship -- the expectation is that Hydro One will help and assist B2M manage its costs.  I think this is a very good example of where Hydro One fulfilled that obligation.

Now, back to the direct -- your direct question --


MR. SMITH:  Thanks.

MR. PENSTONE:  -- well, I mean, in terms of the delay between when we actually knew that the financing was in place and filing --


MR. SMITH:  You are talking about why was the update wait until the end of June?  Actually, we consulted with Board Staff, and the decision was primarily made on efficiency.  Rather than having a separate update and potentially separate PO, separate process, which I don't think anybody really is in favour of necessarily, it was determined mutually that the most -- most efficient way was to release it all at once.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Thank you.  So those are our questions on the debt issuance topic, and so maybe what I'll do is I'll pass it to my colleague on Board Staff, and then we can go on to the next topic area after that.
Questions by Ms. Scott:

MS. SCOTT:  Thanks.  Just to follow up on some of Emma's questions, the annual update for the cost of capital, can you just confirm that that would be then for the short-term debt and the return on equity, and that your long-term debt now is set for the five years?

MR. SMITH:  The financing of B2M is essentially set with this financing.  That will be part of the update in late November that comes up this year.  The equity and actually the -- any short-term debt is -- well, the rates are given to us through the parameters by the Board.  The amounts will be updated, of course, but in terms of the rates, barring any, you know, unforeseen significant financing requirements, yeah, the rates will largely be set and will be reconfirmed every November through the update process.

MS. SCOTT:  And the debt that B2M has is with Hydro One, and they are affiliates; is that correct?

MS. BARAGETTI:  So the debt is owed by B2M -- sorry, is this working?  The debt is owed by B2M LP to a Hydro One wholly-owned affiliate.

MS. SCOTT:  So if -- and we haven't had a chance to look at the instrument, but is it cullable then, the debt?

MR. SMITH:  Cullability was not one of the features that was built into the issuance.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  I think that's all of my questions on debt.  Emma, back to you.
Continued Questions by Ms. Blanchard:

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  Let's see.

Okay.  Well, our next question related to the proposed deferral account for unplanned capital spending.  And so really, we are -- the question is in our letter, but essentially -- well, I guess a few questions.

The Bruce to Milton assets were originally contained in the settlement agreement that was settled in 2014 for Hydro One.  Is that accurate?  Yes, so I guess our basic question is:  At least when that settlement was reached, Hydro One -- the assumption was that Hydro One was to absorb the risk of any unplanned capital spending for Bruce to Milton for the 2015 and 2016 years; would you agree with me on that?

MR. PENSTONE:  Yes, the answer for that is yes, but also in addition to all of its other assets as well.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.

MR. PENSTONE:  Right?

MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.  But it's true that Bruce to Milton was part of the -- there was a -- Hydro One expected to absorb the risk that was related to that in the context of its larger --


MR. SMITH:  To be clear, in the process of settlement it was fully and openly and plainly discussed that the B2M transaction was contemplated, and while precise numbers weren't until, you know, time of the transaction, very close indicative numbers were provided during settlement, so there is no -- it's not that there -- that the settlement was done under a -- without knowing that the Bruce -- B2M transaction was going to happen.

MS. BLANCHARD:  No, no, and there is no suggestion there.  I guess our question is just, it's not clear to us why, through one of the agreements between B2M and Hydro One, Hydro One couldn't continue to absorb that risk over the 2015/2016 period, given that clearly it was part of the assumption when the settlement was reached.

MR. PENSTONE:  So Hydro One and B2M are separate companies, and as a result of that the costs and risks are treated separately.

Hydro One Networks has the advantage of owning and operating over 28,000 circuit kilometres of line, so they are in a position essentially to provide a pretty good estimate of unforeseen capital, and that would be reflected into their capital requirements.

Bruce to Milton, it's 180 kilometres times two.  360 circuit kilometres of line.  There is no way to realistically predict unforeseen capital on such a small asset base that covers a very, very small geography.

So as a result of that, we didn't include an allowance or provision for unforeseen capital in the application, and we're simply seeking a vehicle or an avenue that in the event it does occur -- and as I mentioned earlier, I can't predict reasonably whether it will or will not -- that B2M is able to recover those costs.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Is this -- I guess I would -- if I can paraphrase, because it is small, there is a lot less elasticity, or ability to absorb something that is unexpected?

MR. PENSTONE:   Because it is small, there is also far less ability to actually predict reasonably, in a manner that can be defended --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.

MR. PENSTONE:  -- in terms of what those costs might be.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Is that something that was discussed or considered at the time that the approval was provided to transfer the assets to B2M?  When you are looking at hiving off part of the system, is that part of the analysis?

MR. SMITH:  I'm not sure that that item was specifically discussed during settlement.

As Mike has alluded, it is a microscopically small part of the overall transmission of portfolio of wires, quite frankly.

Moreover, it is a very new line.  It is only about just over three years old, and incursions like that on the 500 kV system after three years are extremely rare.

I can share with you that we did contemplate different options.  We actually looked at trying to make a forecast. But we recognised that actually what's best for ratepayers is to not make, you know, a guesstimate, frankly, and that's all it would be.

Rather, if in the, I would say, unusual -- highly unusual circumstance that there was material capital spending to take place because of some unforeseen storm or whatever, that we would collect those costs.  We look for deferral account treatment to collect them and then, at a future point, we would then go ask the Board for approval of those costs -- because remember to dispose of the deferral account, we still have to get approval.

So we thought that was the best course for ratepayers, rather than trying to make up some guess.

Networks, on the other hand, is such a large portfolio and a population of wires, that it statistically can make very good forecasts on that.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Thank you.  Those are all our questions on the deferral account, so I'll pass it on again.

MS. SCOTT:  Just to follow-up on Board Staff's Interrogatory No. 20, which asked if there was a Z factor available, would that self the same purpose as the unplanned capital spending account.  And you are correct in the transmission filing requirements, there is no information, no reference to a Z factor.

But if there was a Z factor available for transmission for this application, would that serve the same purpose?

MR. SMITH:  It is hypothetical.  But conceptually, that would be similar, yeah.

All we're looking for in this account is for material, unplanned capital spending to be covered.

If a Z factor were designed that would accomplish the same objective, sure.  But, as I say, it is hypothetical and the reason we did a deferral account, as we've pointed out, is that it’s not an option under current code.

MS. SCOTT:  Then how does that deferral account relate To -- in response to OEB Staff No. 2, you talked about "the revenue requirement may also need to be reset in the event B2M LP experiences major unforeseen weather event."

So how do you see that working?

MR. SMITH:  I think that's hand-in-glove.  If there is the unusual circumstance where there is unplanned capital spending and we collect those costs in the deferral account, then during our update in November, we would seek disposal of that account, which may cause the revenue requirement to be adjusted for that.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay, they were one in the same then?  Thank you.

MS. BLANCHARD:  I think that's it for the deferral account.

I'd like to move now to some questions on the start-up costs, and I have just signed into RESS in case you provided some more information on that yesterday, as well.

I didn't receive anything myself, but maybe you did.  I just don't want to duplicate, if you've already answered some of the questions.

MS. VARJACIC:  We did not.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  We're referring here to the response to Board Staff 17, and specifically we are seeking additional detail into -- we'd like to drill down into the $7.7 million of start-up cost for B2M.

I would like to -- I have your chart here.  I think you will have seen from our letter that, in our view, what was provided is really still too high-level to really allow for an assessment.

So I guess the question is: Is B2M able to provide the kind of detail that would allow the Board and ratepayers to understand really what was done for, for example, the $2.5 million in legal costs?  I'm talking about the kind of detail that, for example, intervenors are asked to provide when they file their cost claims, so dockets, time.

This is a significant legal bill, and I think everyone would be well-served and really appreciating how we got to, for example, 2.5 million on just preparing the documents and negotiating the partnership agreement.

MR. PENSTONE:  Before we sort of get into a discussion of details, I'd just like to point out to the Board that this particular partnership is a precedent-setting partnership not only in Ontario, but in Canada.

As a result of that, there were a number of issues that had to be navigated and addressed, as the partnership was formed.

We were breaking new ground.  It required significant advice from experts, not only legal experts, but tax experts.

We required decisions from the CRA, Canada Revenue Agency.  We required considerable advice and understanding of the issues that had to be addressed.  All of this required that significant expertise, specialized expertise had to be brought to bear to enable the partnership to be created.

I will add that subsequent to the creation of this partnership, we have been approached by other utilities across Canada about the mechanics and logistics of establishing a partnership like this.

That is a large contributor to why we had to assemble and pay for significant services, external services.  This was not a situation where we could go and the play book was already established, decisions were already in place.  A great deal of additional effort had to be expended by the partnership and the partners to get it to the point where it is today.

I really -- I've got to really underscore that point, and that was a large contributor to all of this.  When, in my own opinion, you take a look at the total amount that was expended relative to the size of the transmission company, it is not unreasonable -- and pardon the double-negative.

MS. BLANCHARD:  That's helpful and I think, from the ratepayers' perspective at least, the legal costs seem very substantial.  So one of the things that we're interested in is:  Is this the magnitude of cost that we're to expect any time a portion of the system or assets are transferred?

So, if you are telling me this was, you know, ground-breaking and new, then that's all helpful. I think the level of detail that we're asking for would be useful in helping us all to understand why this situation is unique, or distinct from, you know, what we would normally expect for setup costs for an asset transfer.

MR. PENSTONE:  Well, just to add, I think it's fairly evident that it's unique in the sense that it is a partnership involving a Crown corporation and First Nations in the electricity sector and, more specifically, in the transmission part of the electricity sector.  So I don't think anyone will dispute that that's unique.

MS. BLANCHARD:  So will B2M provide the detail that we've asked for in our interrogatory questions?

MS. VARJACIC:  Certainly the witness panel can speak to further information and detail about the nature of the services, the length of time the services were incurred, et cetera, but the partnership is not prepared to provide dockets.  The dockets were prepared in the usual course.  They're solicitor-client privileged.  They weren't dockets prepared, such as intervenors, for the purpose of disclosure, and they're very different, and they won't be produced.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  Well, maybe -- maybe you can -- I mean, there must be a happy medium, and I am -- I would invite you then to tell me how you can give me more detail about the breakdown of this 2.5 million.  I mean, I appreciate the general statements.  You know, it's helpful.  I understand what your legal counsel is telling me, so, you know, what can you do for me?

MR. SMITH:  It's a fair question, and I'd actually go back to your earlier point about, is this the level of legal cost that we should expect going forward.  Obviously we don't have a precise answer for that.  But as Mike alluded, I mean, this was a novel, first-time, ground-breaking transaction.  It was also extremely significant.  It was over half a billion dollars.  We're not going to do those every day.

So, I mean, the answer to your question, I think almost undoubtedly, is that on a future deal, A, will probably not be as large, and B, we have learned a lot, and we would certainly strive to minimize those costs going forward.

Now, I guess we want to seek that happy medium, as you say, so help us understand what information you are seeking.  I mean, if your question is, as you put it earlier, we want to assure that future deals won't rack up these kind of legal costs, that's a very fair question, and we'll try to provide information that will answer that question, but in terms -- I think Anita has said -- in terms of providing detailed dockets of every minute spent, that would be -- well, that would be extraordinary.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  Well, if you can't provide the  dockets, I mean, right now you've given us, you know, 2.5 million and, you know, a very high-level description, so are you able to provide a more detailed breakdown?  Could you give us a list of outside firms and consultants that you worked with, and give us a general sense of what they were -- you know, what their -- what the scope of their retainer was and, you know, how long they worked for you on it?  I mean, I take the point you don't want to share privileged dockets, but for -- these are not immaterial numbers, and what we're trying to understand is what goes into, for example, 2.5 million, so if I go through there, negotiation of master implementation and partnership agreement, you know, surely you can tell me how many professionals were involved, how long the negotiations took, what portion of the 2.5 you would attribute to that.  I mean, I'm assuming you would have all that information.

MR. MONEM:  Alex Monem, for the record.  The questions to an extent are fair, and perhaps it would be helpful, the way you've described it in your written correspondence, to provide detail on the nature of the services provided and the period over which those were provided.

Perhaps I could ask Mr. Colin Salter to give you some of that detail, and I think you'll find that helpful.

MR. SALTER:  Colin Salter, for the record.  Can you hear me now?  Ah, yes.  It works better when the light is on.

So I will provide some background information that I hope will be helpful to answer your questions, and then maybe you can follow up.

These costs were incurred over a three-year period, the 2.5 million, from January 2012 to December 2014.  The costs represent -- the legal costs represent the two firms, Pape Salter Teillet LLP -- that's my firm -- and McMillan LLP.

Our estimate of the number of hours involved was somewhere in the neighbourhood of 5,000 over that time period.  All legal fees were docketed down, at least for PST, down to the tenth of an hour.  And they were all done at our firm's normal rates.  I presume that the McMillan rates were at the standard McMillan rates.

I think that -- is that -- so that's kind of -- it's quite a long period of time and quite a bit of work, for starters.

I think that I could say a couple things about the nature of the deal and the work that was done, and then maybe I'll get into some specifics of the actual activities, because I'm trying to give you the information you need.

MS. BLANCHARD:  That's helpful, thank you.

MR. SALTER:  Okay, so -- and I think this has been spoken to by Mr. Penstone, but really, we were trying to address problems that were unique.  Those problems -- not really legal issues -- had to do with the implications of the Indian Act, the implications of the Aboriginal rights of the SON, and finding a commercial transaction mechanism that balanced off the interests of the parties and did so in a way that was consistent with Ontario policy, but at the same time fulfilled SON's objective to take an ownership interest in the line.

We really couldn't look to any precedent for that, so it was a very detailed conversation over many years with Hydro One, to try to find a middle ground that both met their interests and our client's interests.

The solution we arrived at, which is the transaction that went before the OEB in the transfer and licencing applications, was one that is, in essence, a commercial transaction in which the SON acquire their equity by way of purchase.

So that exercise to articulate how that commercial transaction would work required us to bring in significant expertise on the outside, expertise in financing, because if you are going to take an equity ownership, there is not a lot of great examples around the country of First Nations, particularly Indian bands, having the capacity to borrow significant funds for the purpose of acquiring equity.  So we had to bring in a financial advisor to show us how to do that.  And I'm happy to report we did, right?

We also had to deal with what was going to be the legal relationship between Hydro One and ourselves that would fit within the system but also meet everybody's interest, and that was -- the whole roadmap for that -- so we originally had to arrive at the deal, then we had to really work out the technical roadmap to do it, right?  And that's actually represented in the -- excuse me, in the Anishnaabekiing Naagnigewin Agreement, which is really an agreement about all the steps we need to take going forward.

That also required us to turn our attention to the implications of the Indian Act from both the financing perspective, and also from the tax perspective, and that took significant expertise to deal with those issues.

And the tax elements, as have been discussed before, showed up in the requirement to go get certain rulings, and ultimately resulted in a net benefit to the ratepayers of Ontario.

So through that process, we had articulated, first, the business deal, then the Anishnaabekiing agreement that set out the path, and then this very long exercise of bringing that path to light.  That involves negotiating the limited partnership agreements, the lender's agreements, all the documents related to the debt that you guys were discussing earlier, and all of these interrelations.

Coupled with that, of course, is the implication of SON's own borrowing on the nature of all these documents, because vendors always have expectations about what those documents should look like.  So it is a balancing of all those interests.

Maybe what I'll do for your purposes is just actually give a listing of some of the activities which may be helpful to you.  Of course, I've already talked about developing the deal and the Anishnaabekiing agreement.  But then we had to design the structure for part participation of the First Nations.

We had to negotiate all those provisions in what is called the master implementation agreement, which I've talked about.  Then we had to figure out how the owners would work together once the project was up and running, and articulate that in the provisions around the advisory committee, and preserving the limited nature of a limited partnership in doing so.

We had to, of course, take all this back and explain it to both First Nations, because the SON are made up of the Sagkeeng and also the Naywash First Nations, and get their understanding and approval.  And then, of course, there is the formal approval process of drafting the authorizations at the various stages along the way.

There was then the drafting exercise to the limited partnership agreement itself, and answering all the questions that came out of that.

There was the all the issues about the way the revenue flows out of the project and to the partnership, and how they would be dealt with, and how those revenue flows would be dealt with respect to repaying both the promissory note and our own lending.

There was -- because the Hydro One, as has been explained, was responsible to manage the line and operate the line, there were a series of negotiations to ensure that that was done in a way that was fair to both partners, and doing formal agreements around that.

There were, as I explained earlier, a number of CRA tax rulings.  And, of course, there was the discussion about what the structure is and what the submission would be to the CRA for those rulings, and what role those rulings played.  And those rulings were ultimately achieved, and also were submitted in the earlier hearings in relation to the B2M LP.

There was -- excuse me, I'm looking down my list to see if I missed anything.  I’ve probably missed a lot.

Once we got kind of the slate of documents done, which was a huge exercise, there was a whole participation in the actual approvals processes for both the transfer of the line, the licensing, and then the initial interim rate application

And then there is an ongoing exercise, of course, through each of those steps, to ensure that the Sagkeeng and Ojibway Nations, our clients, fully understand what was being done and authorize us to take the next step.

I think that's really a high-level version, but I could probably spend days going through the detail.  But I'm trying to give you a flavour of how much work pulling off a transaction over a $600 million project is, and I think our ultimate equity investment is around 72 million.  Okay?

MR. PENSTONE:  I'd just like to add one additional activity that was undertaken throughout this entire process, and that was we needed a clear understanding of the impact of this partnership on ratepayers.  Clearly, that was one of the objectives.

We wanted to engage and have First Nations as a partner in a commercial enterprise.  But we also wanted to ensure that that enterprise did not have adverse effects on Ontario ratepayers, and we believe that we provided the Board and intervenors evidence to that effect.  A lot of time was spent on that.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Actually, that might be a good segue, because I do want to ask one question about the net present value of the benefit to ratepayers, and you had answered that in CME 15.

But before I go there, I just wonder whether Board Staff wants to follow up at all on these questions.

MS. SCOTT:  On the start-up costs?

MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes.

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.  The 7.7 million is the total start- up cost.  I'm trying to under understand how the 1.657 in revenue from the ISO in 2014, how that fits into the start-up costs.  Is that net of that amount?

MR. SMITH:  The two really aren't related.  7.7 is the total cost that were associated as Colin, I think it was, described.

The 1.6 of revenue, that was the revenue for basically the second half of December that B2M garnered from its ownership of the line.  They are really not related at all.

MS. SCOTT:  But that went into -- obviously would have paid for some costs for the B2M company?

MR. SMITH:  Well, all revenues will go towards paying for it, sure.  The 1.7 is really just the revenue that was -- as I say, was garnered from its operations in the second half of December.

On a cash-flow basis, sure, the 1.6 is -- from a cash-flow perspective, it helped to offset it, yes.  So they're really not related, the revenue and the upfront expenses aren't -- there is not a direct relationship between the two.

MS. SCOTT:  You've touched on this, but maybe you can explain why the ratepayers should pay for these start-up costs and not the shareholders.


MR. SMITH:  Without rehashing many of the statements that Mike and others made about the gravity, I'll say of the deal, the -- and how this is really a step forward in terms of our relationship with First Nations and others, this was a ground-breaking deal.  This, in many ways, allowed us, on a timely and cooperative basis, to go ahead and build what is a critical line, the Brewster-Milton line, for the future of our transmission system in the province.

On a half-a-billion-dollars deal, as Mike said earlier, start-up costs of about 7 million -- so what's that?  1.5 percent, perhaps -- is really a small amount, I would suggest, in order to forge this kind of ground-breaking deal that sets up for generations, potentially.

I don't want to be grandiose and overstate it, but really this is a sea change in terms of the commercial relationship with First Nations partners across the province.

So coming again from that grandiose answer to answer your question directly, a 1.5 percent up-front cost to forge this kind of deal that allowed to us build this critical line on a timely basis, that's part of the system.

Now that all said, that goes to the reasonability of the expense.

The other part of it is that due to the commercial nature and the good work -- primarily of Giovanna here -- of setting up the structure, the ratepayers are going to benefit from this deal in the long-term significantly, and we may get back to that in the next question.

But this was done with -- thanks to working with our partners, ratepayers are actually going to potentially pay less for this line, by our forecasts, over the life of the asset.  So not only did it enable, you know, a new and novel relationship with First Nation partners, but it actually is beneficial to ratepayers.

So therefore, should ratepayers who are going to benefit from this long-term pay for the start-up costs?  I would suggest yes, that's very fair.

MS. SCOTT:  Do you have any advice or -- on how we can get around the fact that there was no deferral account for these costs?

MR. SMITH:  The reason there was a deferral account was because the entity didn't exist.  It was difficult for us to apply for a deferral account when the entity didn't actually exist until December 17th of 2014.

In a practical standpoint, if we had had a deferral account, and presumably with interest improvement, this actually would have cost ratepayers more than it is going to cost in the long-term.

We're not suggesting interest improvement on the outstanding amount until the -- well, until the end of '15.  Therefore -- I forget the exact estimate, but it is well over $100,000 of interest that ratepayers are actually going to save by following the process that we followed.

MS. SCOTT:  Thank you.

MS. BLANCHARD:  So I am going to ask you about that net present value, but before I get there I want to ask the few questions that we have laid out for you already on the incremental OM&A, and so I guess as a starting point, I think you gave the date of -- did you say December of 2014?  That's when B2M was actually created, or when the asset was transferred?  When was the asset actually transferred to B2M?

MS. BARAGETTI:  That's the December 2014 date.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So in December 2014, was the Bruce to Milton transmission line already up and running?

MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.

MS. BLANCHARD:  So before they transfer, it is up and running, it just is a smooth transition over, and I guess what I'd like to understand is:  Can you give me a before and after, in terms of what's different between how the line is operated, maintained, administered before the transfer and after the transfer?

MR. PENSTONE:  So in terms of the operation and maintenance of the line, the agreement that exists between B2M and Hydro One is that Hydro One will continue to operate and maintain the line.  So that is completely seamless.

The activities at our operating centre are no different today than what they were, with the exception that they provide reports to Bruce to Milton.

The actual maintenance of the line, there have been no changes in the maintenance schedules.  For example, vegetation management, which is the most predominant maintenance activity that's scheduled to take place; no change.

The only difference is Bruce to Milton receives reports from Hydro One as its service provider in terms of costs incurred, the performance of its assets, so the only incremental change is that there are reports from Hydro One Networks, who provide services to Bruce to Milton.

MS. SCOTT:  So in terms of OM&A, you've listed numbers for the incremental additional cost, and it looks like it's about 500,000 a year, except in the first year, where it's a million, and so just to give you a reference, I'm at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 5.  Well, C1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 5.

So I understand there is some new reporting obligations, but I think -- I'm assuming that that doesn't account for all of these additional administrative costs, and so I'd really like to understand -- I guess the real answer to -- the real question I want to know is, in terms of what's new in the operation, maintenance, administration, is your answer that it's really just reporting?

MR. PENSTONE:  I just wanted to be clear.  When I provided the answer in terms of operation and maintenance, it was in the context of the actual physical asset.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.  Got it.  Okay.

MR. PENSTONE:  Now, above and beyond the operation and maintenance of the physical asset, there are the ongoing costs of the partnership itself, which is what's laid out in the exhibit that you just described.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.

MR. PENSTONE:  So now we're getting into the ongoing costs of the partnership.

MS. BLANCHARD:  This is the A part of the OM&A equation.

MR. PENSTONE:  Yes, now we're talking, yes.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay, so I'd like to understand a little bit more about the incremental A costs.  So insurance, I'm not going to ask you anything about that, but I'd like to understand, for example, you've got -- you've got these additional costs for the managing director's office.  I'm assuming you can speak to that.

MR. PENSTONE:  Right.

MS. BLANCHARD:  So maybe you can tell me a little bit about the managing director's office, what you do.

MR. PENSTONE:  Certainly.  So the partnership has one employee, the managing director, who basically on behalf of the partnership ensures that all of the terms and conditions of the partnership agreement are fulfilled.

It also acts as, I'm going to say a small "a" asset manager for the asset; in other words, receiving reports from Hydro One, understanding the condition and state of the asset, ensuring that it doesn't require any additional unforeseen capital expenditures, for example, or if does, to understand why and on what basis those capital expenditures might be required, ensuring that the operations and maintenance that I described earlier are actually being accomplished, and that's confirmed through reports, ensuring that all of the obligations of running an incorporated company are fulfilled, and these are tax obligations, financial obligations, the creation of financial statements.

The other element into all of this is reviewing and confirming that the revenues that are being received by B2M through the IESO are as forecast, ensuring that disbursements to the partners are fulfilled on a regular and timely basis.  That's basically what we do as the -- in the managing director's role.

MS. BLANCHARD:  So this line item here, managing director's office, those are all costs -- that's just the cost of having a managing director.

MR. PENSTONE:  The costs of operating the enterprise on a day-to-day basis.

MS. BLANCHARD:  The one employee.

MR. PENSTONE:  Okay.  Now, there are other costs associated with the operations that are captured here.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.

MR. PENSTONE:  So for example -- and Colin referred to this -- there is an element of ensuring that the partners are informed and advised of the company's operations, that they're also aware and educated on what it means to be a transmission owner and operator in the province of Ontario.  That goes towards the higher costs in 2015 than in subsequent years.

A large element of that is ensuring that the SON partners understand the sector, understand what is a transmitter does, understands where the money goes, understands how it is operated and maintained.  So that also is covered off under the costs of the managing directors' office.

MS. BLANCHARD:  How does that happen?  Are you hiring consultants to come in and provide workshops, or --


MR. PENSTONE:  No.  I mean, these are delivered by Hydro One, so part of the services that we get from Hydro One is to provide this background and the context.

So, for example, within the partnership agreement there is an advisory committee struck that meets on a regular basis to review the operations of the partnership, its current financial state, issues with the assets.  A large item recently is the state and circumstances behind regulatory applications, if you can imagine that.

MR. SMITH:  Blame regulatory.

MR. PENSTONE:  Exactly right, blame regulatory.  So the next meeting of that particular committee will be at Hydro One's operating centre.  As a result of that, there is going to be expenses incurred -- you know, food and lodging, for example -- for the SON and its advisors to attend that meeting; so all of that gets lumped in there.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Is part of this -- I will just pick a number -- but let's say is part of this $500,000 money that's actually being paid to Hydro One for them to deliver these extra services?

MR. PENSTONE:  No, I want to be clear.  So those extra services -- where we rely on Hydro One to provide background is covered off under the service level agreements.

MS. BLANCHARD:  So that's in the -- that's already -- that's in the -- if I go back two pages to page 2, that's already covered in the administrative and corporate expenses line item in that table 1?

MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.

MS. BLANCHARD:  I'm going back and forth between these tables; my apologies.

So when I look for line items for administrative and managing directors' office, you're talking about in addition to employing the one employee, you're talking about lodging and bringing in members of the communities to --


MR. PENSTONE:  Well, it is essentially the cost of the advisory committee.

MS. BLANCHARD:  All right.

MR. PENSTONE:  So there are costs that are incurred there.  So on an ongoing basis beyond 2015, you will see that -- you know, what's fairly flat.  But certainly there is an initial initiative to ensure the partners are comfortable and aware of the partnership and, as I mentioned earlier, the structure of the Ontario industry.  How does Bruce to Milton fit in?  Who is the IESO; who are those guys?

MS. BLANCHARD:  Sounds like a good --


MR. PENSTONE:  Exactly, but this means that there are costs incurred by the partnership to ensure that they have this awareness and knowledge.

MS. BLANCHARD:  That's helpful.  I'm going to ask one last question about this, and then I'll pass it on.

But what is the split between administrative and managing directors' office?  Why are those shown as separate line items?

MR. SMITH:  Administrative is the things outside of the managing directors' office.  Probably the biggest example is the new entity requires its own statements, it requires -- it has a small but meaningful payment to its own auditor.  It is a separate company, so it has separate costs in that respect.

What Mike was describing was more the office and working with our partners, and those sorts of things.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Those are my questions about OM&A.

MS. SCOTT:  In a response to an interrogatory that was CME number 3, you showed the makeup of the interim requirement request, and at that point OM&A was 900,000.

So it may relate back to what you were talking about, the incremental cost.  Our question is then:  Why has the OM&A gone to 1.8 in this application request?

MS. VARJACIC:  Can you maybe check the reference?  The CME 3 didn't seem to quite fit.

MS. SCOTT:  It is the attachment.  Maybe it is the attachment to number 5.

MS. VARJACIC:  Thank you.

MS. SCOTT:  Yes, here.

MS. SCOTT:  So the 40.60, the OM&A at that point was 853 K, and now the request is 1.8.

MR. SMITH:  We're just checking to make sure we've got the right reference.

MS. SCOTT:  Is it that you didn't know about the incremental costs at that point in time?

MR. SMITH:  Oh, oh, the 40.5 -- sorry, could you just jump back to that?

What that exhibit is -- that's from the interim agreement, I believe, correct?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And that is an important point to make clear.  The interim agreement that was filed in December removed the cost associated with the Bruce to Milton assets that Networks expected to incur for 2015, okay?

What was filed in approximately March for B2M is the expenses that B2M expects to incur.

So the 900 you see in what Networks would have incurred continue, lock stock as they are.

There is the incremental portion which is approximately $1 million which B2M, above and beyond what Networks would have incurred, is for '15.

So it's just really important that what was filed in '15 was Networks anticipated cost.  What has now been filed for B2M is B2M's anticipated costs.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  In terms of the OM&A in -- I think there is a year -- 2018, when there is a bump in the OM&A because of -- and the answer to the interrogatory was that it was brush clearing, can we just -- OBB Staff IR No. 12.

Our information was that the line was built in 2014.  And we wanted to know why it was necessary to do that much brush clearing four years later.  Is that the cycle?

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  To be clear, it was actually commissioned in May 2012, the line itself.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay, that's helpful.  Thank you.  Do you share those costs, then, because there is also another line in the same quarter?  Is that correct?

MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

MS. SCOTT:  So do you share the cost then, so it's shared -- the clearing is done jointly with Hydro One?  I know it's done by Hydro One, but is the cost shared?

MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  So the cost of clearing the B2M's right-of-way is allocated to the partnership.  The actual clearing will occur for the entire right-of-way in the year -- was it 2018?  In 2018.

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. PENSTONE:  So that is the scheduled period when the brush control will occur.  It will be undertaken by Hydro One Networks on the entire right-of-way, and a portion of the total cost is allocated to the partnership.

MS. SCOTT:  Thank you, I think those are all my --


MR. THIESSEN:  Before we go on to another topic, I was wondering if people would benefit for a break of 15 minutes.  Would that be appropriate?

MR. PENSTONE:  I think it would.

MR. THIESSEN:  Is that all right?  Give the court reporter a break and the rest of us a break so would it be appropriate to break at 11:10?

MS. BLANCHARD:  That's fine with me.

MS. VARJACIC:  That's fine with me.
--- Recess taken at 10:52 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:11 a.m.

MR. THIESSEN:  It looks like everyone is back, so why don't we resume the technical conference.

MS. BLANCHARD:  So before the break I noted that I was just going to take you to the net present value of the customer benefit, and if you'd like a reference, we're at CME 15.

So if you just scroll down, I understand it's now been calculated at 16.8 million over the life of the asset, and really, you've had some questions this morning on start-up costs, which I understand are the 7.7 million.  We've also talked a little bit about incremental costs of operating B2M, and so my question for you is:  Does this net present value calculation account for the incremental OM&A costs?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. BLANCHARD:  So that line 27, where it says "tax savings less start-up costs" should also say, as well as incremental -- so the answer is yes, I guess.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, no, I mean, to put it very simply --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Yeah.

MR. SMITH:  -- we have a model that calculated what it would have been at --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  -- Networks and --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Yeah.

MR. SMITH:  -- what it is in B2M.  It's that simple.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.  Okay.  Thank you, my next question is on third-party pass-through costs, so --


MS. SCOTT:  Just on the net present value, did you -- what discount rate were you using?  I think in OEB Staff Interrogatory 4 you talked -- was it the Hydro One weighted average cost of capital?  Yeah.  The Hydro One transmission decision support discount rate of 5.8.  Is that the weighted cost to capital?

MR. SMITH:  I think it's different, but the 5.8, that's what our finance folks use on a normal project for Hydro One, yes.

MS. SCOTT:  Had you looked at it from the customers'  -- from the ratepayers' cost of capital?  I'm just referring back -- back in the 2011/2012 HONI transmission rate application the Board talked about when valuing a net present value using the -- as opposed to the proponent's discount rate, use the customer's.  Have you looked at that?

MR. SMITH:  The model we used that I described briefly earlier uses the corporate WACC -- sorry, weighted average cost capital.  It doesn't have an option to change that.  However, without figuring out here, they're actually very similar.  There is not a substantial difference between what would be sort of a deemed capital rate versus the corporate rate.

If you are referring to -- if we use, like, the financial parameters decreed by the Board, the discount rates would be very similar.

MS. SCOTT:  Or, like, for a -- a typical ratepayer.

MR. SMITH:  If you mean using the return on equity and the -- and the cost of capital parameters that are put forward by the Board, yeah, the cost of capital resulting would be very similar.  Maybe I'm not understanding the question.  I apologize.

MS. SCOTT:  No, it's assuming that the typical ratepayer would have a higher cost of capital, so your net present value if you did it with a higher --


MR. SMITH:  We didn't do it with a higher --


MS. SCOTT:  You didn't do it with a higher -- from the customer's point of view, as opposed it the proponent's.

Could you do it?  Could you have a proxy for a customer's cost of capital?

MR. SMITH:  Well, see, the challenge with this line is -- and I think we said that somewhere in the application -- is that the customers are far too numerous, so we wouldn't know what customer group to pick.  If you picked a large company, they'd obviously have a different cost of capital than a private residential homeowner, so I'm not -- it would be highly contrived and averaged and everything else, and I suggest it probably wouldn't be radically different in the end anyway.  The amount of the number really isn't tremendously dependent upon the cost of capital rate.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay, thank you.

MS. BLANCHARD:  This is my last question, and it relates to third-party pass-through costs, and I'm now referring to OEB Interrogatory No. 3, where B2M was asked to provide some additional detail.  So essentially my question is:  Why isn't an exhaustive list of pass-through costs being identified here?

MR. PENSTONE:  We don't know what those costs might be.  They're dependent on the actions or directions of third parties.  So for example, as a licensed transmitter in the province of Ontario, B2M is obligated to comply with the standards established by the North American Electricity Reliability Corporation, or NERC.

Those standards change and evolve on an ongoing basis.  In fact, those standards establish the requirements for vegetation management.  If those standards were to change and increase B2M's costs, we would seek to be able to recover those costs.

MS. BLANCHARD:  I appreciate that, and so you would have -- one pass-through cost would be costs related to regulatory standards, but I guess what I'm struggling with is, generally, my understanding is if you want to have pass-through costs, there is no problem with that, but you have to say, here's the pass-through costs, here's why it should just pass through.

So this is called other third-party pass-through charges.  Why don't we just have a list of what are the third-party pass-through costs that you expect to treat in that way?

MR. SMITH:  The third-party costs that we anticipate now are in there.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  And generally they are actually incurred by Networks, and they are passed through to us in that cost.  This is actually very similar to the unplanned capital account.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SMITH:  There may be costs that we cannot forecast and because of the financial structure of the entity cannot just absorb out of hand.  Therefore, we need -- it is a mechanism, really, so that we can capture those costs.

For example, if tomorrow NERC said that standards go up and we estimated the cost was X, we want to be able to collect those costs of X and in the future -- and this is an important point -- in the future seek Board approval to have those costs included in our revenue requirement in the future.

So A, there will still be a Board approval involved in the future, but really, this is the, I'll call it the vessel to collect costs that we cannot anticipate at this time.

So in terms of providing an exhaustive list, it is a bit of chicken-and-egg, insofar as we don't know what those costs might be.  We don't know if NERC is going to up their standards --


MS. BLANCHARD:  So --


MR. SMITH:  -- for example.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So to paraphrase, am I right in saying that the issue is because you are small you can't absorb unanticipated third-party pass-through costs during your five-year term?  You want to track them, collect them, and then seek approval later.

MR. SMITH:  Yeah.  Exactly.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay, thank you.

Those are all my questions for the panel this morning.  Thank you very much.
Continued Questions by Ms. Scott:

MS. SCOTT:  I just have a few questions, going back to the list that we sent out, and it follows sort of the draft issues list.

The request for a five-year cost of service, can you point to any precedence for that or anywhere where that has been approved by the Board, a five-year cost of service?

MR. SMITH:  The ability to file for a five-year cost of service is not specifically approved in the Board information.  Certainly, there has been indications by the Board that they are potentially moving towards that on transmission.

We look at the other small transmitters -- and when I say "small", small networks, such as Five Nations, such as Canadian Niagara -- and they typically stay out for a much longer period than two, so this is typical of what the, I'll say the similar transmitters do.

And finally -- and, frankly, this is what really drove the decision -- is that this is better for ratepayers.  It is lower cost; we save regulatory cost by doing this once every five years, once every two years.

Networks, I would argue, needs to be in every two years, at least in the current regulatory framework, because of it's a very large capital portfolio that is dynamic and changing, and needs to be reviewed on a regular basis.

As I think the evidence clearly shows, B2M does not have that large dynamic capital portfolio.  This is a very stable asset, a stable business, so there is no real compulsion to have a significant review every two years.  So we thought five years was best for ratepayers.

MS. SCOTT:  And in the response to OEB Staff No. 1, you also said it allowed you to smooth out the start-up costs.

So if the start-up costs were not approved, would there still -- do you still see that need?

MR. SMITH:  Well, again, I think the fundamental reason we did this was for ratepayers.  You're right, the start-up costs -- the proposal is to smooth them over the subsequent four years of the five-year period.  And that also is beneficial to ratepayers, in terms of the smoothing factor.

Would we have changed our decision if we weren't seeking to smooth, or they weren't approved?  Probably not.

MS. SCOTT:  Going back to the revenue, the 2014 revenue from the IESO that B2M received, under what -- we were a bit confused about that, because you weren’t part of the UTR pool.

So under what agreement was that amount determined and paid?

MR. SMITH:  Given the unusual circumstance where a transmitter started in the middle of a month, Networks and B2M did come to an agreement -- and this is another one of those agreements that had to be lawyered and negotiated -- was for the revenue accrued under the ownership of B2M would go to B2M.

However, we didn't have a mechanism and really couldn't.  The way the ISO works, it would be almost near impossible for them to determine a mid-month amount.  So the formula for it is actually really quite simple.  We took the actual revenue for December for Networks, we allocated that, based on number of days -- because we knew the transaction occurred on December 17th, so roughly it was the last half -- so half of that for December.

And then we determined, again fairly plainly, the revenue requirement for B2M versus the revenue requirement for Networks itself.

By the way, the B2M accounts for, I believe, subject to check, about 4.7 percent, the total revenue requirement of Networks.  So therefore, the total Networks revenue times 4.7 percent, which is B2M's share, times about half a month is approximately 1.7 - 1.6 million.

MS. SCOTT:  So it actually came out of Networks?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, Networks was paid the entire amount and we had an agreement forged at consummation that talked about the revenue for the second half of December.

MS. SCOTT:  Thank you.  Monitoring and reporting of performance; the OEB Staff IR No. 4, asked about whether or not you could have an operational efficiency measure.

And I think the response said, well, we don't have the historical data yet.

But under your strategic objectives, you do look at being in the top quartile unit cost in transmission against other companies.  So could you not have used that as a measure going forward; as opposed to measuring against yourself, measuring against other utility companies?

MR. PENSTONE:  In terms of benchmarking against other utility companies, that is, I'm going to say, a very difficult thing to do when you only own one line.

Typically, if you are going to benchmark with other utilities, they own many more assets than a single circuit.  So to be able to identify the appropriate sample set to which you are going to benchmark yourself, we're having to find a transmitter that owns one 500 kV line that spans about 200 kilometres. That is going to be a challenge.

And just to the point of operational efficiencies in general, we're sensitive to the fact that that is clearly, you know, the Board's expectation of transmitters and distributors in the province of Ontario.  One of the ways that we've already achieved operational efficiencies is through the agreements that we have with Hydro One to provide the operation and maintenance services.  This avoids the need for the partnership to have its own control centre, to have its own staff and materials and fleet that's necessary to perform maintenance.

The agreements that we have with Hydro One is -- you know, those services are provided at cost.  So we're not -- we're already, I would submit, achieving operational efficiencies by contracting for those services as opposed to creating the capabilities within the company itself.

MS. SCOTT:  I guess, looking at your -- I'm in Exhibit A, tab 5, schedule 1, table 2, where you have your strategic objectives.  How are you going to know whether or not you've reached your five-year vision in terms of productivity and cost effectiveness then?

MR. PENSTONE:  So in terms of unit costs, this is where we would expect Networks to be able to provide us information to show that their unit costs -- remember that the unit costs that we're talking about here is essentially vegetation management -- is consistent with comparable utilities the size of Networks.

In other words, we're getting services from Networks, and they're charging us a particular cost.  That cost is prorated across all of their vegetation management cost.  So our expectation is Networks, show us how those costs compare to other utilities that -- of comparable size to Networks.

MS. SCOTT:  Staying on that table, I didn't quite understand the five-year vision under "Injury Free -- achieve world-class standing for medical attention."

MR. PENSTONE:  Again, that is the expectation of our service providers, that we’ll achieve that target.  Otherwise, that target applies to me.  So, that wasn't the intent.

MS. SCOTT:  But it does mean minimizing injuries of the people who are doing the work for, through the service agreement; is that --


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.

MS. SCOTT:  And the continuous innovation, meet 100 percent of plan; I didn't see any plan in the evidence.  Is there a continuous innovation plan?

MR. PENSTONE:  Well, 100 percent of plan is the reference to the work that has been identified.  So, for example, the vegetation management work, the expectation is that that's going to be fully achieved.

MS. SCOTT:  So it's not an innovation plan, it's a --


MR. PENSTONE:  It's a -- in terms of -- it's work accomplishment.

MS. SCOTT:  Work accomplishment.

And then for the four outcomes that you talk about, the SAIDI/SAIFI average system availability and the NERC vegetation, have you set targets for those?

MR. SMITH:  In terms of forging our own comparables, you know, we have virtually no history upon which to do that.  Again, this is one more that we look towards the service provider to provide at least performance comparable with its cohorts in the industry.  I mean, that's -- in terms of driving the service level agreement with the service provider, we would be looking to them to provide those kind of results, in terms of SAIDI and SAIFI, et cetera, that they would --


MS. SCOTT:  Does -- and somewhere else you talk about that there was no customer engagement because you really don't have any customers, but the line ends at a station.

MR. SMITH:  And to be -- sorry to interrupt, I apologize.

MS. SCOTT:  No, go ahead.

MR. SMITH:  But to be very clear, it ends before a station, and I want to make that distinction, because much of the operation and maintenance associated with the system is at stations.  This -- there are no station assets whatsoever in B2M LP.  It is truly and strictly a double-circuit line, so it has some towers, has some insulators, has a lot of conductor, but it has no station-operating assets.

Therefore, even the measures identified, SAIDI and SAIFI, most of those are associated with station assets.  We expect our service provider to maintain and have good performance on their station assets, and we will drive towards that, but the asset itself doesn't have those assets.

MS. SCOTT:  But if part of the line fails it affects the reliability of the --


MR. SMITH:  Absolutely.

MS. SCOTT:  Right.  So has Hydro One required a certain level of reliability from B2M?

MR. PENSTONE:  So the reliability of the network, the Ontario network -- and this is an asset that is part of the -- is a network asset -- is the accountability of the IESO, right, so the IESO has reliability for the Ontario grid, accountability for the reliability of the Ontario grid, and that's achieved through a combination of the performance of generators and the performance of transmitters, many, many generators and a handful of transmitters.

So in terms of meeting reliability performance, it's frankly meeting the IESO's requirements, and those requirements and obligations are translated through their market rules.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  I will leave that one.

Just to finish it off, though, what would you propose the four outcomes were you proposing that you report to the OEB on an annual basis, or how did you see that unfolding?

MR. SMITH:  The statistics are being collected.  The nature of the reporting will follow the code and practices handbook, of course.  And I'm not sure what the exact requirements are as I sit here, but the data is being collected on all four of those measures, so it will be reportable.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  Switching to the rate base, the response to CME IR No. 2 was showing how the assets were removed -- removed from the Hydro One rate base and moved into the B2M.

Then if you just look down a bit further -- yeah, there -- the adjustment that was made -- and okay, my printed copy was the cash working capital, the .9 and the .7, so that was -- what was happening with that?  This was how we went from what was removed from Hydro One, what was the opening rate base for B2M.  I'm just trying to understand what those adjustments were.

MR. SMITH:  The .9, .7 aren't adjustments per se.  Obviously in the rate base of Networks there is a portion of the rate base that is for working capital.  Just as the assets were removed from the rate base, so was the applicable working capital.

And then looking at that rate base and then looking at D1-1-1, table 1, there is a slight difference in the numbers.  I'm just wondering if there is an explanation for that.  So we have -- yeah, 522.8 versus the 524 and 516 versus 516.9.

MR. SMITH:  The working capital portion -- the working capital for B2M, we actually had Navigant do a study, and Navigant is also the party that does study for Networks, and they found that essentially zero working capital was necessary for B2M due to its, I'll say the very simple nature of its flows.  There is one stream of revenue, and there are only one or two normalized expenses.

Navigant felt that those flows could be lined up to essentially eliminate the lead lag which drives the working capital calculation.  Therefore, on B2M there is essentially a zero requirement for working capital.

However, in the removal from Networks there is a working capital in the rate base that is applicable.  So that's the difference.

MS. SCOTT:  Well, no, and that adjustment was done on the IR, so the 547.8, take the depreciation, take the working capital, is 524, so my question is, how does that correspond to the 522.8?  I understand there is no working capital.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  So really it is the 523.0 compared to 522.8?

MS. SCOTT:  No, the 524 compared to the 522.8.

MR. SMITH:  The 524 includes the .9 of working capital, but that working capital is zeroed out in B2M's evidence.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  Okay.  So you are saying the 523 -- you are adding back the working capital, then.

MR. SMITH:  In the removal from Networks, it includes .9 in that year of working capital, so that's, along with the 523.0, comes to approximately 524.  That .9 is not included in the B2M filing.

MS. SCOTT:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  So it is really 522.8.  The difference between the 522.8 and 523.0, I'd have to take -- I don't know, but --


MS. SCOTT:  No, it is rounding.  It is probably rounding, but --


MR. SMITH:  Probably.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay, I think I understand.  Okay.

And just one last question on the other variance account you were asking for, the tax rate change variance account.  How were you proposing -- is that 100 percent back to the customer or the...

MS. BARAGETTI:  Well, I mean, I understand the variance account is a standard request in view of the fact the tax legislation changes periodically, and normally that's -- depending which way it goes, it is either given or increases the -- what's asked from the ratepayers.

MS. SCOTT:  Right, but distributors, it's a 50-50, so I just wasn't sure whether you were asking for that or you were saying it would be 100 percent.

MR. SMITH:  Right, the 50-50 is under IRM rules, for distributors.  I don't believe there is any similar rule for transmitters.  This is a straight-up variance account, so we would anticipate the full amount --


MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  I think you have -- Shawn, go ahead.
Questions by Mr. Thiessen:


MR. THIESSEN:  I just have a couple of clarifying questions, and then I'll let my colleague Shawn talk a little bit about some tax issues, but I have two general questions.

The first one has to do with the response to CME Interrogatory No. 5.  The issue here is the fact that 40.6 million was removed from revenue requirement from Hydro One in 2015, and the original application in this case, before the reduction for the cost of capital, was $2.8 million higher.  That's correct, is it not?

So my question is:  When you did the reduction in the revised application for the cost of capital, the cost reduction is strictly due to this cost of capital change; is that correct?

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, that last one, I think, threw me.  If the 40.6 versus 43.4 in the original application -- the change in capital, that was the update.

MR. THIESSEN:  Yes, sorry, yes.  So that 43.4 was reduced, because of the change in cost of capital, down to -- I forget.  Was it 38 or something --


MR. SMITH:  Yes, purely and solely due to the capital change.

MR. THIESSEN:  So there are no other changes in the update beside the capital cost?

MR. SMITH:  43.6 to 38 is just the change in that.


MR. THIESSEN:  Right.  So in the original application, there was that increment between what was taken from Hydro One revenue requirement of $2.8 million, so that -- can I characterize that as an additional cost to ratepayers, all things remaining equal?

MR. SMITH:  And again, we're going from 46 to 43.4?

MR. THIESSEN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  In the first year or two, it means a higher revenue requirement goes into the UTR.  So therefore, yes, a higher cost to ratepayers in the early years.

But, as I think as we've mentioned couple of times, ultimately there are significant tax savings which turn that the other way.  I mean, forget the capital benefit we more recently got, the long-term prognosis was for significant savings for ratepayers over the long term.

MR. THIESSEN:  Thank you.  My second question has to do with response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 11, and it has to do with the service level agreements with Hydro One transmission.

It addresses the point that you have a service level agreement that is going to be going out for five years in this application for B2M.  And we also know that Hydro One transmission is going to be coming in for another rate approval for 2017, 2018, 2019.

The concern is that if the rate approval that Hydro One transmission gets in '17 to '19 involves higher costs, do those higher costs also translate to B2M.

And I think the answer here is that the service level agreement is set for those five years, and that there would be no changes to that agreement for B2M, even if Hydro One's service costs go up.  Is that true?

MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.

MR. THIESSEN:  So for B2M, those costs are set, no matter what happens in the Hydro One transmission case?

MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.

MR. THIESSEN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  My colleague, Shawn, is now going to talk about a few tax issues.
Questions by Mr. Davitt:


MR. DAVITT:  Hi.  I'm referring to the partnership tax return for B2M Limited Partnership, the 2014.  On schedule 10, which is the cumulative eligible capital, there is a $97 million addition.  I just wanted to clarify what that related to.

MS. BARAGETTI:  That relates primarily to the licence arrangement between B2M LP that was entered into by B2M LP on the transfer of the assets.

MR. DAVITT:  On the financial statements, would that be an intangible asset or --


There isn't one listed in the financials, and I was just sort of curious.

MR. THIESSEN:  We have a copy handy, if that helps.

MS. BARAGETTI:  I will verify, but that amount should be included in what's referred to as property, plant and equipment.

MR. DAVITT:  But the addition on schedule 10 in the tax return is an intangible asset?

MS. BARAGETTI:  Yes.

MR. DAVITT:  Yes, that's what I would think.  You said it was related to the licensing relationship -- or licence agreement.  Is another word for that the transmission corridor licence?

MS. BARAGETTI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. DAVITT:  I'm going to refer to Exhibit D1, tab 1, schedule 1.  We've got a value for the transmission corridor licence of 123 million.  I'm just trying to reconcile that with what's on the tax return.

MS. BARAGETTI:  So the -- I mean, you know, that the  -- what we include on schedule 10 is obviously 75 percent of the total.  What's also included in there -- and, I mean, we would have to do a reconciliation.  But what we also added to schedule 10 is some of the start-up cost we cannot deduct for tax purposes, but they have been included in schedule 10 as an intangible as well.  So that's going to cause a difference.

MR. DAVITT:  Would those additional amounts be small amounts, say under five million, or is it --


MS. BARAGETTI:  I think ultimately, yes, it should be under five, based on the amount that we discussed, yes.

MR. DAVITT:  Because the 97 million on schedule 10 in the tax return is before the 75 percent.  So that's the gross amount?

I'm just trying to -- trying to reconcile two numbers.

MS. BARAGETTI:  What you should note -- maybe now I know what you're talking about, what you are asking.

So what you should know is that when we transferred the asset, we did it on a tax-deferred basis.  So we filed elections for tax purposes that allow us to minimize the incidents of tax, which is part of my role, obviously.

That would explain some of the differentials, because the net book value, or the fair market value of the asset does not correspond to the tax basis of the asset.  So that differential would account for your difference.

MR. DAVITT:  I've got one other question.  We were trying to reconcile what was done on the interim revenue requirement submission for CCA purposes with this application, and we notice that the CCA and the CEC charges had increased by about 1.8 million.

We're sort of surprised by that, because we thought it was a very sort of static numbers between the 2014 interim application and this one.

Do you have any thoughts on why that CCA charge would have increased by about 1.8 million?

MS. BARAGETTI:  Like I said, there may have been some -- I mean, subject to confirmation.  But based on the timeframe that elapsed in the meantime, I think there would be potentially additional, you know, some of the start-up costs that would relate to it, as well as, you know, there's -- as the assets depreciates, they may have impact on the ultimate transferred value.

MR. DAVITT:  Okay.  So the 2014 interim number might have been more preliminary or --


MS. BARAGETTI:  Yes.

MR. DAVITT:  Okay, that's everything.  Thanks.

MR. THIESSEN:  Those are all the questions from Board Staff.  Unless CME has any further questions?
Continued Questions by Ms. Blanchard:

MS. BLANCHARD:  The only -- I just wanted to go back to one question that Mr. Thiessen had asked, and the answer that was given is that there is a higher revenue requirement that's going into the UTR, and I just -- could you expand on that a little bit, because I just want to be clear.

Relative to the interim, is that what you're -- maybe you can just clarify your answer for me.

MR. SMITH:  Yeah, no problem.  The interim revenue request in December was the calculated amount that the Bruce to Milton assets cost Networks.  So therefore -- and I think it was fairly clear in the interim rate it was -- we very much want apples to apples.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  So we took out an amount and put it over here, no change.

The cost-of-service filing to be done here is the actual total cost that Bruce to Milton -- B2M LP -- will incur over the next five years.

In the first year, that cost is actually higher, again, notwithstanding the capital change -- I mean, that's separate.  But before that capital change, the first-year cost of operating B2M was higher than Networks would have incurred on a cash basis.  Does that make --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes, okay.  Understood.  Thank you.

MR. THIESSEN:  Okay, I have one other matter to discuss very briefly, and that is the issues list.  Hydro One -- I mean, B2M LP submitted an issues list under Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 1.  Staff finds that list to be comprehensive and appropriate, although I may suggest that there be one final issue added, and that has to with bill impacts, and it would be simply that, are the bill impacts of this application appropriate?  Because I find that's missing from the list, and even though we see in the evidence that the bill impacts are very small, I think it's still an important point to have on the issues list.

I don't know if anyone else wants to make a submission on that.

MS. VARJACIC:  No issue with that addition.

MR. THIESSEN:  Then I think, as noted in the procedural order, Board Staff will be issuing an issues list that will be based on this with that one addition.

Now, as for next steps in this case, in the next procedural order there will be a decision from the Board on Hydro One's request for a written hearing.  So you will see that and any other scheduled items that come after that.  And there will be the approved issues list as well, if the Board approves the one that we are suggesting they go forward with.

But I think that concludes our session for today.  So thank you to the witnesses, and thank you to all the other participants today.  That concludes the technical conference, unless there is any other comments.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the conference adjourned at 11:54 a.m.
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